IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,913

HTP, LTD., etc., et al.,

FILED

SID J. WHITE

Petitioners,

DEC 20 1995

CLERK

by ______Clark

v.

LINEAS AEREAS COSTARRICENSES, S.A., etc., et al.,

Respondents.

On Petition For Review Of A Decision Of The Third District Court Of Appeal Of Florida, Case No. 94-2779

PETITIONERS' AMENDED BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

LESTER M. BRIDGEMAN
MILLER, HAMILTON, SNIDER &
ODOM, L.L.C.
P.O Box 46
Mobile, Alabama 36601
(334) 432-1414
FAX: (334) 433-4106

and

LAWRENCE R. METSCH FBN 133162 METSCH & METSCH, P.A. Suite 416 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-7773 FAX: (305) 358-7877

Attorneys for Petitioners

INTRODUCTION

Since the issuance of this Court's decisions in <u>Casa Clara</u>

<u>Condominium Association</u>, <u>Inc. v. Charley Toppino And Sons</u>, <u>Inc.</u>,

620 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 1993), and <u>Airport Rent-A-Car</u>, <u>Inc. v.</u>

<u>Prevost</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 660 So. 2d 628 (Fla. 1995), the Second and Third

District Courts of Appeal of Florida have differed on the

question of whether the "economic loss rule" bars the recovery of
economic damages predicated upon the intentional tort of fraud in
the inducement (hereinafter referred to as "the question").

On November 17, 1995, the Second District, in <u>Woodson v.</u>

<u>Martin</u>, So. 2d ____, 20 FLW D2556, (Fla. 2nd DCA Case No. 942)(<u>en banc</u>), answered the question in the affirmative and
certified it to this Court as one of great public importance.

The Third District, on September 13, 1995, in <a href="https://html.nc.nlm.nc.n

¹ A copy of the Second District's November 17, 1995, <u>en</u> <u>banc</u> decision in <u>Woodson v. Martin</u>, <u>supra</u>, is attached hereto as Exhibit "A".

² Article V, § 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution (1968).

³ Conformed copies of the Third District's September 13, 1995, decision in <u>HTP, Ltd. v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A.</u>, supra, and its November 15, 1995, order denying rehearing, rehearing en banc and certification are attached hereto as Exhibits "B" and "C", respectively.

the question in the negative.

In <u>Casa Clara</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court held that the "economic loss rule" barred homeowners from recovering damages from a supplier of allegedly defective concrete under a negligence theory. Justice McDonald's majority opinion for this Court in Casa Clara observed:

"... the 'basic function of tort law is to shift the burden of loss from the injured plaintiff to one who is at fault... or to one who is better able to bear the loss and prevent its occurrence'.... The purpose of a duty in tort is to protect society's interest in being free from harm,... and the cost of protecting society from harm is borne by society in general. Contractual duties, on the other hand, come from society's interest in the performance of promises.... When only economic harm is involved, the question becomes 'whether the consuming public as a whole should bear the cost of economic losses sustained by those who failed to bargain for adequate contract remedies'." (Citations omitted)

620 So. 2d at 1246-1247.

This Court, in <u>Airport Rent-A-Car</u>, <u>supra</u>, reiterated the foregoing analysis and held that:

(a) the "economic loss rule" applies to negligence claims for the manufacture of a defective product where the only damages claimed are to the product itself and where the

⁴ See, AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co., 515 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1987) (Florida does not permit a purchaser of services to recover economic losses in tort without a claim for personal injury or property damage), and Florida Power & Light Co. v. Westinghouse Electric Corp., 510 So. 2d 899 (Fla. 1987) (Florida law does not permit a buyer under a contract for goods to recover economic losses in tort without a claim for personal injury or property damage to property other than the allegedly defective goods).

plaintiff claims to have no alternative theory of recovery;

- (b) a cause of action otherwise precluded by the "economic loss rule" may not be maintained if the damage to the product is caused by a sudden calamitous event; and
- (c) a cause of action may not exist outside the bar of the "economic loss rule" where the plaintiffs allege a duty to warn which arose from facts which came to the knowledge of the company after the manufacturing process and after the contract.

As established in this jurisdictional brief, this Court possesses jurisdiction under Article V, § 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution (1968), to review the Third District's decision in <a href="http://htt

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 11, 1992, Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A. ("LACSA"), sued HTP, Ltd. ("HTP"), and Stephen H. Gamble ("Gamble") seeking a judicial declaration that LACSA was not obligated to make further payments to HTP and Gamble under a settlement agreement dated February 9, 1990 ("the Settlement Agreement") that had settled litigation over a 1984 contract between them. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A. v. HTP, Ltd., et al., Case No. 92-19943, General Jurisdiction Division, Eleventh Circuit Court, Dade County, Florida ("Case No. 92-19943").

HTP and Gamble answered LACSA's complaint and HTP counterclaimed against LACSA and its affiliate, LACSA International, Inc. ("LACSA Int."), for breach of the Settlement Agreement (Count I) and for fraud and deceit (Count II).

LACSA and LACSA Int., on February 11, 1993, answered HTP's breach of contract counterclaim and, invoking Florida's "economic loss rule", moved to dismiss HTP's counterclaim for fraud and deceit. HTP, on May 11, 1993, voluntarily dismissed Count II (fraud and deceit) of its counterclaim, without prejudice.

On September 8, 1993, in its first amended complaint, LACSA named HTP, Gamble and Tyler Corporation ("Tyler") as defendants and characterized them as alter egos. LACSA's first amended complaint alleged in Count I that it had been fraudulently induced by Petitioners to enter into the Settlement Agreement; in Count II, that Petitioners had perpetrated a constructive fraud upon LACSA resulting in LACSA's execution of the Settlement Agreement; and, in Count III, restated its original claim for declaratory relief based upon its interpretation of the Settlement Agreement. Its first amended complaint sought, inter alia, damages by way of repayment of all amounts which LACSA had paid to Petitioners under the Settlement Agreement. LACSA's first amended answer to HTP's counterclaim interposed the affirmative defense that it had been fraudulently induced by Petitioners to enter into the Settlement Agreement.

⁵ HTP, Tyler and Gamble will hereinafter be collectively referred to as "Petitioners".

Petitioners, on September 23, 1993, answered LACSA's first amended complaint by denying liability and denied the allegations of LACSA's fraudulent inducement affirmative defense to HTP's counterclaim.

On October 5, 1994, the Circuit Court denied Petitioners' motion for summary judgment and Case No. 92-19943 went to trial before Circuit Judge Martin D. Kahn and a jury on Monday, October 31, 1994. Prior to jury selection, the Circuit Court considered Petitioners' Third Motion In Limine, which invoked Florida's "economic loss rule" to bar LACSA from seeking tort damages for its claimed economic losses on a fraudulent inducement theory. LACSA then withdrew Count III of its First Amended Complaint, which, since the inception of Case No. 92-19943, had sought an interpretation of the Settlement Agreement that LACSA had simultaneously attacked by its fraudulent inducement claim. The Circuit Court thereafter denied Petitioners' Third Motion In Limine.

On November 3, 1994, the jury returned the following verdict:

"WE, THE JURY, hereby find as follows:

"1. Did Defendant/Counterclaimant HTP, Ltd. (`HTP'), Defendant Tyler Corporation (`Tyler'), and Defendant Stephen H. Gamble (`Gamble') fraudulently induce Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A. (`LACSA'), to enter into the settlement agreement?

YES	X	NO

If your answer to Question No. 1 is 'yes', your verdict is for LACSA in

this action and your should skip to Question No. 7. However, if your answer to Question No. 1 is `no', please answer Question No. 2.

* * * * * *

"7. What is the total amount of damages sustained by LACSA as a result of the fraud of HTP, Tyler and Gamble?

\$571,784.00 damages, which were incurred on February 9, 1990.

If you have answered any amount in response to Question No. 7, then your verdict in this case is for LACSA and you should date and sign this verdict form and return it to the courtroom.

"SO SAY WE ALL this 3 day of November, 1994.

s/ Ruth A. Larson FOREMAN/FOREWOMAN"

The Circuit Court, on November 9, 1994, entered a Final Judgment on the jury's verdict awarding LACSA damages in the total sum, including pre-judgment interest, of \$898,687.79.

Petitioners, on November 9, 1994, moved (a) for a new trial; (b) for judgment in accordance with their motions for directed verdict; and (c) to alter or amend the Final Judgment. The Circuit Court, on November 22, 1994, denied all of Petitioners' post-trial motions. Petitioners' Notice of Appeal was filed with the Clerk of the Circuit Court on November 29, 1994. On December 22, 1994, LACSA filed its Notice of Cross-Appeal with the Clerk of the Circuit Court.

On December 6, 1994, Petitioners posted with the Clerk of the Circuit Court a supersedeas bond in the penal sum of

\$1,114,372.96, thereby staying the issuance of a writ of execution. An agreed order taxing \$6,000.00 in costs was entered by the Circuit Court on December 8, 1994.

On September 13, 1995, the Third District, in Case No. 942779, affirmed the Circuit Court's Final Judgment in Case No. 9219943. Petitioners, on September 28, 1995, moved in Case No. 942779 for rehearing, rehearing en banc and certification to this
Court. The Third District denied those motions on November 15,
1995. On November 20, 1995, Petitioners filed their Notice To
Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction and moved that the Third
District stay the issuance of its mandate. The following day,
Petitioners, in support of their motion to stay the mandate,
notified the Third District of their reliance upon the Second
District's en banc decision in Woodson, supra.

THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION IN HTP

"First, we find that the trial court properly ruled that the plaintiffs' cause of action for fraud in the inducement was an independent tort that was not barred by the economic loss rule. Burton v. Linotype Co., 556 So. 2d 1126, 1128 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), review denied, 564 So. 2d 1086 (Fla. 1990) ('Fraud in the inducement and deceit are independent torts for which compensatory and punitive damages may be recovered'.)"

Slip Opinion, p. 2.6

⁶ The "economic loss rule" was <u>not</u> addressed in <u>Burton v.</u> <u>Linotype Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>, in which the Third District held that

THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION IN WOODSON

Judge Danahy's majority opinion in <u>Woodson</u>, <u>supra</u>, began as follows:

"Is a buyer of residential property (the appellant) prevented by the 'economic loss rule' from recovering damages for fraud in the inducement against the real estate agent and its individual agent (the appellees) representing the sellers? The trial court held that the economic loss rule applies here and entered final summary judgment in favor of the appellees. We agree and affirm; however, we certify this question to the supreme court as a question of great public importance."

Slip Opinion, pp. 1-2. Thereafter, that opinion discussed this Court's <u>Casa Clara</u> and <u>Airport Rent-A-Car</u> decisions and those of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit in <u>Hoseline</u>, <u>Inc. v. U.S.A. Diversified Products</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 40 F. 3d 1198 (11th Cir. 1994), and <u>Pulte Home Corp. v. Osmose Wood Preserving</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 60 F. 3d 734 (11th Cir. 1995), and concluded:

"We believe that the nature of the damages suffered determines whether the economic loss rule bars recovery based on tort theories. If the damages sought are economic losses only, the party seeking recovery for those damages must proceed on contract theories of liability. Economic losses are property damage which results in loss of the benefit bargained for. The only damages suffered by the appellant were damages to the house. Thus, this situation comes squarely within the economic loss rule as stated by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Casa Clara</u> and in <u>Airport Rent-A-Car</u>.

misrepresentation, fraud in the inducement and deceit are torts "independent" of contract claims for which punitive, as well as compensatory, damages could be recovered. Nothing in this Court's "economic loss rule" jurisprudence even hints at the existence of an exception for "independent torts".

"For the foregoing reasons, we affirm. Question certified."

Slip Opinion, pp. 7-8.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because the Third District's decision in <u>HTP</u>, <u>supra</u>, expressly and directly conflicts with the Second District's decision in <u>Woodson</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court possesses jurisdiction over this case pursuant to Article V, § 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution (1968), and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure (1977).

ARGUMENT

Not one of the judges of the Second District who participated in <u>Woodson</u>, <u>supra</u>, suggested that the "economic loss rule" could be circumvented by resort to the "independent tort doctrine". Instead, they focused upon the disparate implications of this Court's use, in <u>Casa Clara</u> and <u>Airport Rent-A-Car</u>, of the word "tort"- rather than "negligence"- in differentiating recovery in contract.

- (a) they are in "direct conflict" on "the same question of law" (<u>i.e.</u>, whether fraud in the inducement is an exception to the "economic loss rule"), and
- (b) such joint consideration would spare the public uncertainty concerning the applicability of the "independent tort doctrine" to the "economic loss rule" should this Court affirm the Second District's decision in Woodson, supra.

CONCLUSION