IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 86,913 (DCA No. 94-2779)

HTP, LTD., et al.,)

Petitioners)

vs)

LINEAS AEREAS COSTARRICENSES)
S.A., et al.)

Respondents)

FILED

SIO J. WHITE

DEC 22 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Cities Deputy Clerk:

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida, Case No. 94-2779

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Richard Hyland, Esq.
Florida Bar #831336
William J. Brown, Esq.
Florida Bar #103653
777 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1114
Miami, Florida 33131
(305)374-2280; Fax (305)375-0022
and
Carl H. Hoffman, Esq.
Florida Bar #118997
Hoffman and Hertzig
241 Sevilla Avenue, Suite 900
Coral Gables, Florida 33134

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does the Economic Loss Rule Bar a Cause of of Action for Fraud in the Inducement When the Fraud Has Been Held to Represent a Tort Independent from Other Claims?

INTRODUCTION

On November 3, 1994, a jury in Miami, Florida, found that Petitioners -- HTP, Ltd., the Tyler Corporation, and Stephen H. Gamble -- committed fraud. Petitioners were held liable for secretly planting a mole in the highest echelons of the management of Respondents, Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A. and LACSA International, Inc. (together "LACSA"), and instructing him to induce LACSA, by means of fraudulent misrepresentations, to enter into two settlement agreements.

Petitioners argued to the appellate court that they should not have to pay damages for their intentional tort because LACSA's claim for fraud in the inducement is barred by the economic loss rule. The appellate court rejected Petitioners' argument on the grounds that their fraud constituted a tort independent from other claims.

Petitioners now seek discretionary review in this Court, arguing that the appellate opinion below conflicts with other appellate precedent in this jurisdiction. Petitioners point in particular to a recently certified case in which the Second District held that, on the facts presented in that case, a fraud in the inducement claim was barred by the economic loss rule, see Woodson v. Martin, ___ So. 2d ___, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D2556 (Fla.

2d DCA, Nov. 17, 1995) (en banc), and to the decisions of this Court that have held that tort law is concerned exclusively with personal injury and property damage -- and that economic loss is recoverable only in contract. See AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 515 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1987); Casa Clara Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. Charlev Toppino and Sons. Inc., 620 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 1993); Airport Rent-A-Car, Inc. v. Prevost, Inc., 660 So. 2d 628 (Fla. 1995).

There is, however, no conflict. All of the cases Petitioners have cited agree with the decision below that a cause of action in tort survives the economic loss rule when the tortious conduct results in an independent tort unrelated to a breach of contract.

Since nothing in the cases Petitioners have cited points to a conflict, Petitioners' request for discretionary review must be denied.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioners have chosen not to discuss their fraud. Yet even a brief recital of the deception Petitioners practiced in this case makes clear that their tortious conduct was independent of any contract-related claims.

LACSA is the national air carrier of Costa Rica. Beginning in 1982, LACSA paid Stephen H. Gamble, as president of the Tyler Corporation, \$65,000 a year for his advice and assistance in the lease, purchase, and sale of aircraft used in LACSA's operations. Gamble assisted LACSA in two transactions. LACSA subsequently discovered that Gamble was taking money from both sides in

these transactions.

In one of the deals, Gamble recommended that LACSA borrow \$1.9 million from HTP, Ltd., a Bermuda company. The money was borrowed and repaid in full, with interest. HTP later claimed an additional \$3 million interest in the aircraft that was the subject matter of the transaction. Gamble concealed from LACSA that he owned and controlled HTP.

In 1988, HTP sued LACSA in California for the \$3 million, as well as for conversion and fraud. During discovery, LACSA learned of Gamble's double-dealing and that he was assisting HTP in the lawsuit against LACSA. As a result, in 1989, LACSA sued Petitioners in Dade County, Florida, for breach of their consulting agreement, conspiracy to violate fiduciary duties, and fraud.

As the litigation proceeded and more wrongdoing was exposed, it became clear that Gamble would have to pay for his improprieties. In order to avoid that result, Petitioners concocted a plan. In June 1989, HTP hired J. Christopher Mallick, who had previously provided business advice to LACSA's new president, Mario Quiros. Mallick was to maneuver Quiros into renouncing LACSA's lawsuit against Petitioners and to convince LACSA to pay yet more money to HTP. Mallick was to be paid according to the results he was able to produce, with a bonus at the end which Mallick expected to be \$100,000. By the time the settlement agreements were signed, Petitioners had paid Mallick \$32,500.

The scheme was kept secret. The agreement between Mallick and HTP contained a confidentiality provision which prevented either party from divulging its contents. The confidenti-

ality was not breached until the trial judge in this case ordered the production of the documents that exposed the fraud.

On instructions from Petitioners, Mallick presented himself to Mario Quiros as a well-wisher who wanted to aid Quiros in making a success of his new position. Mallick eventually isolated Quiros from LACSA's trial counsel and assumed the role of trusted confidant. He pretended to assist LACSA in settling the lawsuit against Petitioners to LACSA's best advantage. Neither Quiros nor anyone else at LACSA ever knew that Mallick was Petitioners' agent. As a result, LACSA spoke confidentially to Mallick of the lawsuits and of the weaknesses it perceived in its cases. Mallick passed this inside information on to Gamble. For almost seven months, Gamble used Mallick as his puppet, eavesdropping on confidential discussions, discrediting LACSA's trial counsel, disseminating misinformation, and painting a picture of certain loss if the lawsuits continued.

The scheme worked. In early 1990, LACSA signed the settlement agreements, surrendering its claims against Petitioners and, in addition, paying them over half a million dollars.

Petitioners' fraudulent activities would have remained undiscovered had they not insisted, in 1992, that LACSA owed yet more monies under the settlement agreements. LACSA sued for a judicial declaration that it had fully complied with the terms of the settlement agreements and did not owe additional monies. HTP counterclaimed for breach of the settlement agreements. A year later during discovery, LACSA uncovered the facts of the fraud, amended its complaint to allege fraud in the inducement, and before trial, dropped the count requesting declaratory relief.

After a full trial, the jury concluded that Petitioners were liable for fraud and awarded LACSA compensatory damages.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The appellate court below held that LACSA's claim for fraud in the inducement was not barred by the economic loss rule because Petitioners' conduct constituted a tort independent of any contract-related claims. Since both requirements of the independent tort doctrine are satisfied in this case, the opinion below does not conflict with any Florida precedent.

ARGUMENT

Petitioners seek discretionary review in this Court. In order to establish this Court's jurisdiction, they must demonstrate that the decision below expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or with a decision of this Court on the same question of law. Fla. Const. Art. V, § 3(b)(3); Fla. Rules App. Pro. Rule 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(iv). Petitioners cannot make the requisite showing in this case.

The appellate court below found as follows: "the trial court properly ruled that [LACSA's] cause of action for fraud in the inducement was an independent tort that was not barred by the economic loss rule." HTP, Ltd. v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses. S.A., 661 So. 2d 1221, 1222 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995).

Petitioners argue that the decision below conflicts with appellate precedent because there is no independent tort exception to the economic loss rule. "Nothing in this Court's 'economic loss rule' jurisprudence even hints at the existence of an exception for 'independent torts'." Petitioners' Amended Brief on Jur-

isdiction at 7-8 n. 6.

Petitioners are mistaken. In its seminal cases on the economic loss rule, this Court made clear that a tort action is not barred by the economic loss rule if what is involved is "a tort 'distinguishable from or independent of [the] breach of contract.'" AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., supra, 515 So. 2d at 181, quoting Lewis v. Guthartz, 428 So. 2d 222, 224 (Fla. 1982).

This Court has established two criteria to determine whether the tortious conduct complained of is independent. First, there must be "some additional conduct" beyond that which results in the breach of contract. AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel Co., supra, 515 So. 2d at 181. Second, the tort is not independent if the aggrieved party might have protected itself by agreement from the loss -- in other words, when "losses [are] sustained by those who failed to bargain for adequate contractual remedies." Casa Clara Condominium Ass'n. Inc. v. Charley Toppino and Sons. Inc., supra, 620 So. 2d at 1247.

In the case at bar, both elements of the independent tort doctrine are present. First, the tortious conduct is entirely unrelated to any breach of contract -- in fact there was no breach. LACSA's loss was caused not by Petitioners' breach, but rather by their deception.

Second, LACSA could not have protected itself against Petitioners' fraud by agreement. Unlike the known possibility of a product defect, which can be protected against by a warranty provision in the agreement, the risk to LACSA was unknown and intentionally remained hidden until long after the settlement agree-

ments were concluded.

The opinion of the Second District in <u>Woodson</u> is not to the contrary. In <u>Woodson</u>, the plaintiff had claims against the seller of his home for breach of contract. <u>See Woodson v. Martin</u>, <u>supra</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at D 2556. The fraud in the inducement coincided precisely with the breach of contract. Moreover, the plaintiff had, in fact, protected himself by means of the appropriate contractual provisions. <u>Woodson</u> presents neither of the elements required to demonstrate the existence of an independent tort.

When the controlling factual elements of the allegedly conflicting cases are distinguishable, or if the points of law settled in the two cases are not the same, no conflict arises capable of supporting certiorari jurisdiction before this Court. Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So. 2d 885, 887 (Fla. 1962).

In the case at bar, Petitioners' conduct was expressly found to constitute a tort independent of any contract-related claims. To permit recovery for the losses Petitioners caused does not conflict with any Florida precedent. There is no basis here for certiorari jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioners' request for discretionary review in the Supreme Court of Florida must be denied.